
 
 

 

City of Keene Planning Board  
 

AGENDA 
 

Monday, September 25, 2023 6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers 
 

I. Call to Order – Roll Call 
 

II. Minutes of Previous Meeting – July 24, 2023 
 

III. Extension Request 
 

1. SPR-02-23 & SWP-CUP-01-23 – Site Plan & Surface Water Conditional Use Permit – 
Contractor Bays, 0 Black Brook Rd – Applicant Patriot Holdings LLC, on behalf of owner 
New England Interconnect Systems Inc., requests an extension to the deadline to satisfy 
the precedent conditions of approval for the Site Plan & Surface Water CUP applications, 
SPR-02-23 & SWP-CUP-01-23, for the proposed construction of two buildings ~36,000 sf 
and ~25,200 sf in size for use as rental units for contractors and associated site 
modifications on the properties at 0 Black Brook Rd (TMP #s 221-023-000 & 221-024-
000). The combined parcels are 12.57 ac and are located in the Corporate Park District. 

 
IV. Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 

 
V. Boundary Line Adjustment 

 
1. S-07-23 – Boundary Line Adjustment: Applicant BCM Environmental & Land Law PLLC, 

on behalf of owners Tilden Properties, LLC & the James A. Putnam Trust, proposes a 
Boundary Line Adjustment between the properties located at 168 & 180 Court St (TMP #s 
554-010-000 & 554-011-000). Both properties are in the Medium Density District. 

 
VI. Public Hearings 

 
1. S-06-23 – Subdivision: Applicant Brickstone Land Use Consultants LLC, on behalf of 

owner Carlisle Park Avenue LLC, proposes to subdivide the existing ~5.66 ac lot at 800 
Park Ave (TMP #227-002-000) into two lots that are ~2.64 ac and ~3.02 ac. The parcel is 
located in the Commerce District. 

 
2. S-08-23 – Subdivision & SPR-04-13, Mod. 1 – Site Plan: Applicant and Owner Markem 

Corporation proposes to subdivide 150 Congress St (TMP #598-002-000) into two lots 
and remove pavement and portions of an existing tunnel structure. A waiver from Sec. 

1 of 64



 
 

20.7.3.C of the Land Development Code has been requested. The parcel is located in the 
Industrial Park District. 

 
VII. Advice & Comment 
 

1. Aroma Joe’s Site Modifications – 348 West St – Applicant Brickstone Land Use 
Consultants, on behalf of owner West Street AJ’s LLC, is seeking input from the Planning 
Board regarding proposed modifications to the existing queuing layout on the Aroma 
Joe’s property at 348 West St (TMP #577-025-000). The parcel is 0.23 ac and is located 
in the Commerce District.  
 

VIII. Nomination of City Representative to SWRPC Commissioners  
 

IX. Staff Updates 
 

X. New Business 
 

a. Request for Planning Board Comments on Route 101 Improvements Project 
 

XI. Upcoming Dates of Interest 
 Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – Tuesday, October 10th, 6:30 PM 
 Planning Board Steering Committee – October 10th, 11:00 AM 
 Planning Board Site Visit – October 18th, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed 
 Planning Board Meeting – October 23rd, 6:30 PM 

 

2 of 64



City of Keene 1 
New Hampshire 2 

 3 
 4 

PLANNING BOARD 5 
MEETING MINUTES 6 

 7 
Monday, July 24, 2023 6:30 PM Council Chambers, 
            City Hall  8 
Members Present: 
Harold Farrington, Chair 
David Orgaz, Vice Chair  
Mayor George S. Hansel 
Councilor Michael Remy 
Emily Lavigne-Bernier 
Roberta Mastrogiovanni 
Armando Rangel 
Ryan Clancy  
Randyn Markelon 
Kenneth Kost, Alternate 

Members Not Present: 
Gail Somers, Alternate 
Tammy Adams, Alternate 

Staff Present: 
Jesse Rounds, Community Development 
Director 
Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
Evan Clements, Planner 
 

I) Call to Order 9 
Chair Farrington called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM and a roll call was taken. 10 
 11 
II) Minutes of Previous Meeting – June 26, 2023 12 

A motion was made by Mayor George Hansel to approve the June 26, 2023 meeting minutes. The 13 
motion was seconded by Councilor Remy and was unanimously approved. 14 
 15 

III) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 16 
Chair Farrington stated as a matter of practice, the Board will now issue a final vote on all 17 
conditionally approved plans after all of the “conditions precedent” have been met. This final vote 18 
will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. He asked if there were any 19 
applications tonight that are ready for a final vote. 20 
 21 
Ms. Brunner stated there is one application ready for final vote: SPR-01-23, which is a site plan 22 
application for a car wash facility on the properties at 364 West Street and 12 Pearl Street. She 23 
stated that there were three conditions precedent that were set for this application. 24 

The first was the submittal of a security for sedimentation and erosion control and as-built plans 25 
in a form and amount acceptable to the City Engineer. 26 

3 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 2 of 20 
 

The second condition was the addition of a note on the plan stating that the hours of operation for 27 
the vacuums on the site shall be from 7:00 AM To 8:00 PM. 28 

The third condition was submittal of five full-sized paper copies signed by the owner and one 29 
digital copy of the final plan. 30 

Ms. Brunner stated all three conditions precedent have been met. 31 

A motion was made by Mayor George Hansel that the Planning Board issue final site plan approval 32 
for SPR-01-23. The motion was seconded by David Orgaz and was unanimously approved. 33 

IV) Extension Requests  34 
 35 

1. SPR-790, Modification #1 – Site Plan – 7 Krif Ct – Applicant Keach-Nordstrom 36 
Associates Inc., on behalf of owner Summit Packaging Systems LLC, requests an 37 
extension to the deadline to satisfy the precedent conditions of approval for the site 38 
plan, SPR-790 Modification #1, for the proposed construction of an ~6,400 sf addition 39 
to the existing building and associated site modifications on the property at 7 Krif Ct 40 
(TMP #118-002-000). The parcel is 1.98 ac and is located in the Industrial District. 41 

 42 
Ms. Bridget Sousa of Keach-Nordstrom Associates Inc., on behalf of owner Summit Packaging 43 
Systems, stated the applicant submitted a request for extension to meet the conditions of approval 44 
issued on January 23, 2023. She indicated that, unfortunately, the initial project estimate costs were 45 
much lower than what was actually bid. For the time being, Summit Packaging has decided to put 46 
the project on hold for budgetary reasons. Hence, they would like to request this extension. Ms. 47 
Sousa noted that the applicant has moved forward with the architectural plans and MEP plans. 48 
When the project is ready to move forward, they will need to submit a Floodplain Development 49 
Permit application. 50 
 51 
A motion was made by Mayor George Hansel to approve the request for a 180-day extension to 52 
the deadline to satisfy the precedent conditions of approval for the site plan application, SPR-790 53 
Modification #1.  54 
 55 
The motion was seconded by David Orgaz and was unanimously approved. 56 

 57 
V) Public Hearings  58 

 59 
1. S-05-23 – 2-lot Subdivision – 86 Nims Rd – Applicant and owner Innisfree Rev. 60 
Living Trust proposes to subdivide the ~34.44 ac parcel at 86 Nims Rd (TMP #230-61 
004-000) into two lots that are ~15.60 ac and ~18.84 ac. The parcel is located in the 62 
Rural District.  63 
 64 

A. Board Determination of Completeness 65 
 66 
Evan Clements, Planner, stated the applicant has requested exemptions from providing separate 67 
existing and proposed conditions plans, showing a wetlands delineation on the existing conditions 68 
plan, a drainage analysis, a traffic analysis, and a soil analysis. Staff have determined that the 69 

4 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 3 of 20 
 

requested exemptions would have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that 70 
the Board accept the application as “complete.” 71 
 72 
A motion was made by Mayor George Hansel to accept the subdivision application, S-05-23, as 73 
“complete.” The motion was seconded by David Orgaz and was unanimously approved. 74 
 75 
Mr. Clements clarified that the application was noticed as a subdivision producing two parcels 76 
approximately 15.68 acre and 18.84 acres in size; however, after plan revisions were conducted, 77 
the new parcel sizes for the final proposal for this application came out as 19 acres and 15.42 acres. 78 
Mr. Clements stated this should have no bearing on the legality of the notice; it is just a point of 79 
clarification as the Board moves through its review of the application. 80 
 81 

B. Public Hearing 82 
 83 
Wendy Pelletier of Cardinal Surveying addressed the Board. Ms. Pelletier stated this parcel of land 84 
is approximately 34.4 acres in size and is located at the end of Nims Road. The rear of the property 85 
abuts Otter Brook Dam preserve. The request is for a two-lot subdivision. She explained that there 86 
is 50 feet of frontage on the Class V portion of the road and there are no proposal for construction 87 
at this time.  88 
 89 
Mayor Hansel asked if this subdivision would create two conforming lots. Ms. Pelletier answered 90 
in the affirmative. 91 
 92 
Staff comments were next. Mr. Clements stated the subject property is an existing 34.2-acre parcel 93 
located on the east side of Nims Road at the point where the road transitions from a Class V to a 94 
Class VI roadway and noted that it has frontage on both. Otter Brook Lake is located directly to 95 
the east. There is an existing garage/shed located on the northwestern corner of the property. The 96 
property has historically been used for agricultural purposes and was most recently a Christmas 97 
tree farm. A flowage easement exists on the property to the benefit of the United States of America 98 
for the purposes of supporting the construction, maintenance, and operation of the Otter Brook 99 
Dam and Reservoir Project. The easement was dedicated as part of a Mortgage agreement executed 100 
in 1958. The subdivision will create a 19-acre parcel with approximately 278’ of frontage on the 101 
Class V road. The second lot will be 15.42 acres with 50’ of frontage on the Class V road and 102 
approximately 247’ of frontage on the Class VI road. Both lots will have sufficient frontage to 103 
meet zoning. 104 
 105 
With reference to Regional Impact: After reviewing the application, staff has made a preliminary 106 
evaluation that the proposed subdivision does not appear to have the potential for “regional 107 
impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. The Board will need to make a final determination as to whether 108 
or not the proposal, if approved, could have the potential for regional impact. 109 
 110 
With respect to specific subdivision regulations for this application, Mr. Clements stated:  111 
 112 
Character of Land: There appears to be sufficient land area near the road to support low density 113 
residential development. The existing property slopes away from the road with an average slope 114 
of approximately 11%. The property contains areas of precautionary and prohibitive slopes starting 115 

5 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 4 of 20 
 

approximately 500’ from the road. The 19- acre lot will have 23% of its total lot area classified as 116 
precautionary and 2.72% as prohibitive slopes. The 15.44-acre lot will have 29.5% of its total land 117 
area classified as precautionary and 4.26% as prohibitive slopes. It appears that this standard has 118 
been met.  119 
 120 
Preservation of Existing Features: The applicant states in their narrative that no development is 121 
being proposed with this application. The front portion of the lots is characterized by gently sloping 122 
fields. Notes on the plan indicate that any future development shall comply with steep slope and 123 
surface water regulations. It appears that this standard has been met.  124 
 125 
Special Flood Hazard Areas: All parcels associated with this application are outside of the 100-126 
year floodplain. This standard does not apply.  127 
 128 
Fire Protection and Water Supply: Note 7 on the plan states that any future building shall have 129 
adequate and approved fire protection installed. It appears that this standard has been met.  130 
 131 
Utilities: Note 8 on the plan states that private well and sewer systems will be required for any 132 
future building. The proposed lots are over 5 acres, so DES subdivision approval is not required. 133 
It appears that this standard has been met.  134 
 135 
Drainage and Stormwater Management: Note 2 on the plan states that any future development 136 
shall not result in increased volume or velocity of runoff onto adjacent properties or surface water 137 
bodies. Staff has also added a new subsequent motion which states as follows: “Prior to the 138 
issuance of a building permit, for new residential dwellings a grading and drainage plan shall be 139 
submitted for the proposed development area to the Community Development Department for 140 
review and approval by the City Engineer.” 141 
 142 
Sediment & Erosion Control: Note 3 on the plan states that any future development shall be 143 
designed to prevent erosion and sedimentation during and subsequent to construction. It appears 144 
that this standard has been met.  145 
 146 
Traffic & Access Management: Note 5 on the plan states that a Street Access permit shall be 147 
obtained prior to any construction. It appears that this standard has been met. 148 
 149 
Mr. Clements then reviewed the second subsequent condition of approval that staff is 150 
recommending: “Prior to the issuance of a building permit for a new residential dwelling, a 151 
wetlands delineation shall be conducted by a licensed NH Soils Scientist and a plan showing the 152 
delineated wetlands and their buffer shall be submitted to the Community Development 153 
Department. If the delineation conducted reveals no wetlands in the building area, a letter with 154 
the licensed NH Soils Scientist’s stamp stating that no wetlands were found shall be submitted 155 
instead.” 156 
 157 
Mr. Clements explained that the above-mentioned items, in tandem with the grading and drainage 158 
plans, are recommendations staff has come up with as a way to address future development at the 159 
subdivision level, in all parts of the City, but particularly in the Rural District, which has a 160 
significant amount of steep slopes and surface waters. As a way to bring a little more density into 161 

6 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 5 of 20 
 

the Rural District by changing minimum lot size from five acres to two acres, Mr. Clements noted 162 
that the items he reviewed are items that staff will be encouraging the Board to include as 163 
subsequent conditions of approval moving forward to ensure that natural features are protected as 164 
the City allows development to expand within the Rural District. 165 
  166 
Mr. Clements then reviewed the other recommended conditions of approval outlined in the staff 167 
report.  168 
 169 
Ms. Brunner stated that she wanted to add some context to the subsequent condition of approval 170 
just reviewed by Mr. Clements. She indicated that Planning Staff recently met with Code 171 
Enforcement & Public Works Staff to discuss some other areas of the City where there have been 172 
ongoing issues with previous subdivisions that were approved when no development was 173 
proposed. She explained that when development occurred later on, the City started receiving 174 
concerns from neighbors about having water runoff going between private properties, but also 175 
runoff going onto private properties from the public right-of-way. In some instances, this has 176 
caused the City to have to expend unbudgeted funds on infrastructure upgrades and has cost a 177 
significant amount of staff time to come up with a solution.  178 
 179 
She explained that City Staff are trying to get ahead of these types of issues by recommending 180 
these additional subsequent conditions of approval. Ms. Brunner indicated that the idea with this 181 
application is that with lot sizes of 20 acres and 15 acres having the applicant complete a wetlands 182 
delineation of the entire parcel would be cost prohibitive. However, at the time when a building is 183 
going to be constructed, having the applicant complete a wetlands delineation of the immediate 184 
vicinity would be much more financially feasible and this would ensure they are meeting the 185 
Planning Board’s regulations.  186 
 187 
The same would be true with having the applicant submit a grading and drainage plan at the time 188 
of construction to ensure they are not causing runoff and drainage issues onto abutting properties. 189 
This would provide Code Enforcement Staff with the opportunity to require the submittal of a 190 
grading and drainage plan, which they don't have the ability to request unless the Board makes it 191 
a requirement. 192 
 193 
The Mayor noted the proposed language sounds like the City is looking for the entire parcel to be 194 
delineated and asked for clarification. Ms. Brunner noted perhaps it would be good to clarify the 195 
motion, but explain that staff’s intention is only to have the delineation performed in the vicinity 196 
of the proposed building – when that determination has been made. Mr. Clements suggested the 197 
term “development area” to be included in the motion.  198 
 199 
The Chairman asked for public comment next. 200 
 201 
Ms. Penny Shanks stated she was before the Board to request that she be allowed to purchase 50 202 
feet of road frontage on Nims Road, which would allow her daughter and husband to build a small 203 
house on their land. She stated that they have owned their property since 1971 and this has always 204 
been their home. She noted her husband Jay’s many contributions to the Keene community, 205 
including many homes that he has designed and built, as well as many other buildings in Keene. 206 
She added that her daughter would like to move to Keene to start a bio tech lab.  207 

7 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 6 of 20 
 

 208 
With no further public comment, the Chairman closed the public hearing. 209 
 210 
Mr. Clements provided clarification about the comments just made by Ms. Shanks. He noted there 211 
is a landlocked parcel located to the south of the subject property that only has access via the Class 212 
VI portion of Nims Road. He added that while Ms. Shanks’ request is motivating, he wanted to 213 
clarify that the Planning Board has no authority to sell private property to other private individuals 214 
and suggested Ms. Shanks speak to the landowners, if they are looking to buy property on the 215 
Class V portion of Nims Road. 216 
 217 
The Chairman reopened the public hearing. 218 
 219 
Ms. Anne Shanks addressed the Board next and stated she is speaking on behalf of her family. She 220 
indicated her sister is trying to discuss different options with the landowner, but did not hear about 221 
this application in enough time to address this with the landowner. She indicated that their request 222 
is that the Board deny this application at this time, so they have time to negotiate with the 223 
landowner to obtain the 50 feet of road frontage the Shanks need to construct a home. She added 224 
that in the past, they have tried to get a variance to build a home on their land, but the variance 225 
was denied; hence, their reason for trying to purchase the 50 feet of frontage.  226 
 227 
Mr. Jacob Westrate, applicant, and property owner, stated that he and his wife, Nancy, purchased 228 
this land in 2014. He indicated that in 2015, he was approached by two of his neighbors, Paul 229 
Venezia of 75 Nims Road and Steve Hart of 78 Nims Road, who asked about a variance, which 230 
Mr. Westrate stated he was not aware of. The request for a variance was from Jean and Julia Garcia 231 
and no one knew these individuals were. The Garcias were asking for a variance to build a home 232 
on landlocked land to the south that had 247 feet of frontage along the Class VI portion of the road. 233 
He added he and his wife should have been noticed as abutters, but were not. In addition, the 234 
applicant for this variance did not own the land, which he said was a concern to all abutters.  235 
 236 
Mr. Westrate stated that he and his wife came to City Hill when they were made aware of the 237 
variance request and met with Gary Schneider, who told them that they were not on the abutter 238 
list. He indicated that everyone who lived on Nims Road showed up for the variance hearing on 239 
June 1st and noted that there were various reasons raised at the meeting not to approve this request; 240 
however, the main reason was that the applicant had applied for a similar variance in 1999, which 241 
was approved subject to meeting certain conditions, but those conditions were not met and the 242 
Council denied the request. Mr. Westrate stated that they hired Attorney Tom Hanna to represent 243 
them, and it was explained to him that under NH Law once a variance granted, it is considered null 244 
and void if the conditions are not met and you are not allowed to reapply again. Mr. Westrate 245 
added that City Attorney Mullins agreed with Attorney Hanna’s assessment. 246 
 247 
Since that time, Mr. Westrate stated they have signed two Purchase and Sales Agreements. He 248 
added they have completed the necessary surveys and have also complied with all requests from 249 
the Planning Department.  250 
 251 
The Chairman closed the public hearing again.  252 
 253 

8 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 7 of 20 
 

C. Board Discussion and Action 254 
 255 
A motion was made by Mayor George Hansel that the Planning Board approve S-05-23 as shown 256 
on the plan set identified as “2 Lot Subdivision Plan Existing & Proposed Conditions” prepared 257 
by Cardinal Surveying & Land Planning at a scale of 1” = 100’ dated June 16, 2023 with the 258 
following conditions: 259 
 260 

 1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following conditions 261 
precedent shall be met:  262 

 263 
A. Owner’s signature appears on the plan.  264 

 265 
B. Submittal of a revised plan set with the following changes:  266 

i. The parcel identification number for the new lot be removed from the plan.  267 
 268 
C. Inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their designee following 269 
their installation or the submittal of a security in an amount deemed satisfactory to the 270 
Public Works Director to ensure that the monuments will be set.  271 

 272 
D. Submittal of four (4) full sized paper copies, two (2) mylar copies, and a digital copy of 273 
the final plan set. 274 

 275 
E. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51.00 made out to the City of Keene to cover 276 
recording fees.  277 

 278 
2. Subsequent to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following 279 

conditions shall be met:  280 
 281 
A. Prior to the issuance of a building permit for a new residential dwelling, a wetlands 282 
delineation for the building area shall be conducted by a licensed NH Soils Scientist and a 283 
plan showing the delineated wetlands and their buffer shall be submitted to the Community 284 
Development Department. If the delineation conducted reveals no wetlands in the building 285 
area, a letter with the licensed NH Soils Scientist’s stamp stating that no wetlands were 286 
found shall be submitted instead. 287 

 288 
B. Prior to the issuance of a building permit for a new residential dwelling, a grading and 289 
drainage plan shall be submitted for the proposed development to the Community 290 
Development Department for review and approval by the City Engineer. 291 

 292 
The motion was seconded by Councilor Michael Remy. 293 
 294 
Mayor Hansel stated he does feel for the abutters to the south. However, the Planning Board cannot 295 
do much about their situation. He added the Planning Board’s task tonight is to look very 296 
objectively at the plan that was submitted and how that plan adheres to the Board’s Development 297 
Standards and subdivision regulations. Through that analysis, it appears that all of the requirements 298 
for a subdivision have been met. He stated the one argument they could make would have to do 299 

9 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 8 of 20 
 

with surface waters and wetlands, but the condition of approval that staff is recommending 300 
addresses that issue.  301 
 302 
Chair Farrington stated he hopes there would be some solution for the Shanks to work out with  303 
whoever purchases these parcels. 304 
 305 
Mr. Clancy encouraged staff to reach out to abutters to help with negotiation.  306 
 307 
Chair Farrington added that he sees no regional impact with this request.  308 
 309 
Ms. Lavigne-Bernier asked whether there was any clarity on the variance as far as a time constraint 310 
is concerned. Mr. Clements explained that as Mr. Westrate stated, a variance can only be requested 311 
once unless you make substantive changes to the application. At that point, an applicant could 312 
come back before the Zoning Board to seek some form of relief. He stated that there are some state 313 
RSAs related to obtaining building permits on Class VI roads and there is another body of work 314 
related to landlocked parcels. He noted that at some point in the process, the Planning Board does 315 
have involvement, but from the state level the Zoning Board does not. However, the City of Keene 316 
has done certain things in a way to include the Zoning Board, but at this point it would be up to 317 
the landowner to get creative and come up with some sort of alternative. 318 
 319 
The motion made by the Mayor was unanimously approved. 320 
 321 

2. S-10-22 – 2-lot Subdivision & SWP-CUP-03-23 – Surface Water Protection 322 
Conditional Use Permit – 0 Old Walpole Rd - Applicant Brickstone Land Use 323 
Consultants, on behalf of owner Keene Executive Homes LLC, proposes to subdivide 324 
the ~211 ac parcel at 0 Old Walpole Rd (TMP #211-010-000) into two lots that are ~5 325 
ac and ~206 ac. A Conditional Use Permit is requested to install a driveway that will 326 
be partially located within the Surface Water Protection buffer. Waivers are 327 
requested from Sec. 25.10.5.B.2.b.iii & Sec. 25.10.5.B.2.c.ii of the Land Development 328 
Code regarding the requirement that updated plans showing the metes and bounds 329 
of the revised parcels be submitted. The parcel is located in the Rural District. 330 

 331 
Councilor Remy noted this application has a connection to C&S Wholesale Grocers, who is his 332 
employer, but he indicated that he has not had any involvement with this project.  333 
 334 

A. Board Determination of Completeness 335 
 336 
Mr. Clements stated the Applicant has requested waivers from the two sections of the LDC that 337 
the Chairman just noted. He indicated that the notice for this application included those waiver 338 
requests. However, it turns out that those requests can be handled as administrative exemptions 339 
and a formal waiver was not required. Staff’s recommendation for completeness will include those 340 
items. 341 
 342 
He went on to say the Applicant has requested exemptions from providing an existing conditions 343 
plan that shows the metes and bounds of the entire parent parcel, a drainage report, landscaping 344 
plan, lighting plan, elevations, historic evaluation, screening analysis, architectural & visual 345 

10 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 9 of 20 
 

appearance analysis, and a traffic analysis. Staff have determined that the requested exemptions 346 
would have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the Board accept the 347 
application as “complete.” 348 
 349 
A motion was made by Mayor George Hansel to accept the subdivision application, S-10-22, as 350 
complete. The motion was seconded by David Orgaz and was unanimously approved. 351 
 352 

B. Public Hearing 353 
 354 

Mr. Jim Phippard of Brickstone Land Use Consultants, on behalf of owner Keene Executive 355 
Homes, addressed the Board. Mr. Phippard stated this property is located on Old Walpole Road 356 
and consists of a 211.6-acre tract. He indicated this proposal is to subdivide off a single 5.1 acre 357 
lot a single-family home with the remaining 206 acres left undeveloped. Mr. Phippard referred to 358 
the area outlined in blue on the plan, which shows existing wetlands. He explained that the parcel 359 
has over 460 feet of frontage on Old Walpole Road. Based on the frontage, lot size, and lot 360 
dimensions, the new lot complies with zoning dimensional requirements. The remaining tract of 361 
land has over 400 feet of frontage, so both lots will comply with zoning dimensional requirements.  362 

Mr. Phippard stated that they are proposing to provide access to this property via a shared 363 
driveway, which is actually an existing woods road at this property today.  364 

Mr. Phippard stated that staff has requested that the applicant show that the proposed building area 365 
is truly accessible and can comply with the City’s driveway standards. He noted that a portion of 366 
this property has steep slopes that exceed 20% grade, while other portions are flatter. The building 367 
area is at a 6% grade.   368 

Test pits were completed, which identified an area that could support a septic system (there is no 369 
water or sewer available in this part of the City). There is also a well located within the protective 370 
radius of the lot. All in compliance with current regulations. 371 

He explained that the proposed driveway design, however, does require a conditional use permit. 372 
This is the other application in front of the Board tonight. Mr. Phippard indicated he completed a 373 
site visit with the Conservation Commission and they have expressed no concerns with this 374 
proposal. He understands their approval as a recommendation to approve the conditional use 375 
permit application.  376 

Mr. Phippard stated that for a conditional use permit, the applicant has to demonstrate that there 377 
are very minor impacts to wetlands and surface waters and has to avoid as much impact as possible.  378 
He indicated that everything they are doing is outside of the existing wetlands area and there are 379 
no direct wetlands impacts. He noted that they are crossing a portion of the wetlands buffer. Mr. 380 
Phippard specified that in the Rural District, the wetlands buffer is 75 feet. The building area shown 381 
in green on the plan is entirely outside of the wetlands buffer, so it meets the building setback 382 
requirements and is just under 10,000 square feet in size.  383 

Mr. Phippard stated the plan before the Board shows a proposed driveway layout that utilizes the 384 
existing woods road where it meets Old Walpole Road. If you travel up a little over one hundred 385 
feet, turn right, and angle up the hill; that portion of the property is entirely within the wetlands 386 
buffer. He noted that the shaded area shown on the plan represents new impacts to the wetlands 387 
buffer that are being proposed by the applicant.  388 

11 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 10 of 20 
 

Mr. Phippard then addressed the slope of the driveway. The first option was just over 600 feet in 389 
length at an 8% grade. Mr. Phippard felt 8% is very manageable, even in New Hampshire winters; 390 
however, he noted that this driveway layout is quite expensive. 391 

The second option was to utilize a portion of the existing woods road, with an “S” design as you 392 
head up the hill, which would create a driveway that is about 450 feet long with a grade of 10%, 393 
rather than 8%. However, he noted that this design would cross through the wetlands buffer in 394 
three different locations.  395 

The third option would be a driveway starting at the corner of the property that would be 600 feet 396 
long and would remain at a 4% grade for most of that length, but would have an 8% grade at the 397 
beginning. Mr. Phippard stated he felt this was the most reasonable and safe approach and noted 398 
that it would still be expensive. However, this option has a large area going through the wetlands 399 
buffer. As a result, the applicant chose to design the driveway so that it would come from Old 400 
Walpole Road, follow the existing Woods Road at a 6% grade, transition to be at 15% grade for 401 
the next 130 feet of the driveway, and go back to a 6% grade at the proposed building area. This 402 
option has the least impact to the wetlands buffer, which is ~2,000 sf in size. He noted that there 403 
would be 3,500 square feet of total work within the wetlands buffer, and added that this driveway 404 
option does allow for a turnaround at the top of the driveway, which is required by the Fire 405 
Department. It is only a 10-foot-wide driveway, which is in compliance with the Board’s driveway 406 
regulations. He noted that while this driveway design meets the Board’s standards, it does require 407 
a conditional use permit because a portion of it is within that wetlands buffer. 408 

Mr. Phippard stated that he had spoken at length with Russ Huntley, a wetlands scientist, about 409 
the functions and values of these impacted wetlands. He noted nothing is being proposed near the 410 
wetlands area, so there is really almost no disturbance. The entire building site is outside the 411 
wetlands area, so it complies and meets the building setback requirements. The only areas the 412 
Board is reviewing for the conditional use permit are the driveway coming off of Old Walpole 413 
Road and two other areas where wetlands will be impacted. Mr. Phippard noted these wetlands 414 
areas are well-established. He indicated it is not uncommon for a site with steep slopes to have 415 
wetlands pockets at the bottom of the hill; this is where the water goes. These areas will remain 416 
vegetated and undisturbed by the applicant’s activities. Both sides of the road are well-vegetated. 417 
Where the grades exceed 5%, the swale on the side of the road will be stone-lined, which will 418 
prevent the swale itself from eroding. The road will also be elevated and crowned, so the water is 419 
not running down the road or the driveway. It is also being proposed that this driveway is not 420 
paved. A crushed stone surface will be used, which Mr. Phippard thinks will hold up well. He 421 
stated he has done many driveways in Keene on Hurricane Road with this same material and they 422 
have held up very well, and they are also not as slippery as a paved driveway.  423 

Mr. Phippard stated he had looked at the cost of adding three inches of pavement to this road 424 
surface and this information was provided to the buyer. At today’s estimates, three inches of 425 
pavement over that driveway surface would add up to about 3,500 square feet of area including 426 
the turnaround. The cost would be $13 a square foot with a total cost of $45,500 for the whole 427 
driveway. Mr. Phippard stated that the applicant has no interest in paving at this time. The applicant 428 
is aware that every three years the driveway will need to be graded and the crown will need to be 429 
reconstructed, as plowing will cause the crown to get flat. Mr. Phippard stated he would like to 430 
request the Board not move forward with the recommendation from staff that the driveway be 431 
paved.  432 

12 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 11 of 20 
 

Mr. Phippard stated that the wood road has been around for over 100 years. It is a gravel road and 433 
has not been maintained in the recent past. Mr. Phippard noted that the rain during these past few 434 
weeks has not had an effect on this driveway, which tells him this road has been constructed well 435 
and with proper maintenance it will last even longer. He felt that paving the driveway is 436 
unnecessary because of the cost to the owner and the potential for increased runoff. Mr. Phippard 437 
stated that gravel surfaces always have less runoff compared to paved surfaces.   438 

Mr. Phippard went on to say that staff is recommending a condition of approval related to the 439 
submittal of a stormwater management plan at the time the applicant applies for a building print. 440 
He felt that it didn’t make sense to attempt to do one now because the plan for what is going to be 441 
constructed is still unknown. What he is however, recommending, is that they allow for the water 442 
that hits the driveway to be directed through a culvert to a level spreader in this area, which is 443 
outside of the wetlands buffer.  444 

Mr. Phippard explained that the level spreader can be lengthened, if necessary to accommodate a 445 
25-year design storm. He went on to explain that the woods road is actually an old farmer’s road 446 
that was installed by the Barrett Family. In reviewing the recommended conditions of approval for 447 
the application, Mr. Phippard felt that condition #2.A related to the submittal of a Stormwater 448 
Management plan for the site should include the driveway and level spreader, not just the build 449 
area and the septic. This concluded Mr. Phippard’s comments.  450 

Staff comments were next. Mr. Clements stated that with respect to the Determination of Regional 451 
Impact, staff had made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed subdivision does not appear to 452 
have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. He noted that the Board will 453 
need to make a final determination as to whether or not the proposal, if approved, could have the 454 
potential for regional impact. 455 

He went on to say the subject property is an existing 211.4-acre parcel located at 0 Old Walpole 456 
Road. The property is located on the north side of the road between the Hilltop Drive and Abbott 457 
Road intersections. The applicant proposes to create a new 5.10-acre residential building lot from 458 
the 211-acre parent parcel. The new lot will have 449.19 feet of road frontage on Old Walpole 459 
Road and the remaining 206.3-acre lot will have 80.30 feet of frontage on Old Walpole Road.  460 

He went on to say there is an intermittent stream and wetlands system located on the property and 461 
noted that creating site access for the new lot would require impacts to the wetlands system.  462 

Character of Land for Subdivision: The proposed residential building lot is characterized by steep 463 
slopes and wetlands. Available building areas outside these site constraints are minimal and 464 
developing the lot without impacting site features will be challenging. The applicant states in their 465 
narrative that the subdivision plan demonstrates that the proposed lot has sufficient developable 466 
land to support a single-family dwelling with septic system and wellhead, which is permitted in 467 
the wetlands buffer, without impacting these site features.  468 

Scattered or Premature Development: The applicant states in their narrative that the proposed 469 
subdivision is located in an area along Old Walpole Rd that is currently developed with low-470 
density single-family residences. A new single-family residential building lot is in keeping with 471 
the existing development pattern and will not contribute to an excessive expenditure of public 472 
funds or cause danger or injury to the health and safety of the public. Mr. Clements noted the above 473 
two standards appear to be met. 474 

13 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 12 of 20 
 

Preservation of Existing Features: The applicant states in their narrative that no steep slopes are 475 
proposed to be impacted. The driveway will encroach within the wetlands buffer but mitigation 476 
has been proposed to address this issue. It appears that this standard has been met.  477 

Special Flood Hazard Areas: All parcels associated with this application are outside of the 100-478 
year floodplain. This standard does not apply.  479 

Fire Protection and Water Supply: The applicant states in their narrative that the proposed 480 
driveway turnaround is of sufficient size to accommodate emergency vehicles. Future 481 
development of the site will have to meet all applicable fire and life safety codes. This standard 482 
has been met.  483 

Utilities: The new residential building lot will be served by onsite well and septic. The proposed 484 
conditions plan depicts a 4k leech field area outside of the wetlands buffer and the 75’ wellhead 485 
protection radius. The lot is over 5 acres in size and will not need DES subdivision approval. It 486 
appears that this standard has been met.  487 

Drainage and Stormwater Management and Driveway: Mr. Clements stated what has been 488 
presented is an example how to develop the property for residential use with the least amount of 489 
impact to the wetlands buffer and system. He added that the driveway is not shown on the 490 
subdivision plat and the recorded plat won’t show the driveway on it. This means that a site access 491 
permit will be required from the Public Works Department, which will take into account 492 
everything Mr. Phippard proposed.  In addition, the stormwater management plan that is also being 493 
required will need to be reviewed and approved by the City Engineer 494 

With reference to reviewing the Conditional Use Permit, Mr. Clements stated the Planning Board 495 
shall issue a Surface Water Protection Conditional Use Permit for the activities described in 496 
Section 11.6.1 of the Land Development Code, if it finds that all of the following criteria have 497 
been met:  498 

1. The proposed use and/or activity cannot be located in a manner to avoid encroachment 499 
into the Surface Water Protection Overlay District.  500 

2. Encroachment into the buffer area has been minimized to the maximum extent possible, 501 
including reasonable modification of the scale or design of the proposed use.  502 

3. The nature, design, siting, and scale of the proposed use and the characteristics of the 503 
site, including but not limited to topography, soils, vegetation, and habitat, are such that 504 
when taken as a whole, will avoid the potential for adverse impacts to the surface water 505 
resource.  506 

4. The surface water buffer area shall be left in a natural state to the maximum extent 507 
possible. The Planning Board may establish conditions of approval regarding the 508 
preservation of the buffer, including the extent to which trees, saplings and ground cover 509 
shall be preserved.  510 

Mr. Clements stated that the Board is not sure where the house is going to be located, even though 511 
Mr. Phippard has shown the best-case scenario on the plan where there is plenty of buffer area. He 512 
added that the Board’s regulations don’t prohibit removing vegetation from the wetlands buffer 513 
area to create a lawn, for example. However, he noted that the Board can always add additional 514 
conditions, if they wanted to preserve those areas. 515 

14 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 13 of 20 
 

Mr. Clements then outlined the proposed conditions of approval. He indicated that he agrees with 516 
Mr. Phippard’s suggestion to be very specific that the stormwater management plan includes the 517 
building site, driveway, and associated infrastructure.  518 

He explained that the City Attorney would like to have copies of the executed maintenance 519 
agreement, which would be completed in tandem with plat for the maintenance of the shared 520 
driveway.  521 

Mr. Clements referred to the request for the driveway to be paved and referred to a comment from 522 
Engineering Staff: “An important consideration for preventing water quality degradation will be 523 
controlling erosion of the driveway itself. With a significant length of the driveway at 15%, use of 524 
gravel surfacing will inevitably result in erosion of soil into the downstream surface water directly 525 
in contradiction to the intent of the Surface Water Protection Ordinance.” The City Engineer 526 
recommends that the Planning Board include a condition of approval stating that the driveway be 527 
paved. 528 

Mr. Clements stated that he understands what Mr. Phippard stated in regards to the proposed 529 
property owner having experience with gravel driveways and the maintenance that is required of 530 
them. He noted that this condition may not be relevant to the current property owner, but may be 531 
relevant to later property owners who may not be used to maintaining a gravel driveway. 532 

This concluded staff comments. 533 

Councilor Remy stated that conditions of approval #1.B.ii and 2.B and 2.C conflict. He indicated 534 
that the City is not asking for a driveway, but they are asking for a driveway. The Councilor added 535 
that condition of approval #2.B refers to shared access and maintenance. Ms. Brunner explained 536 
this is to show the easement area, not the design of the driveway. She stated that she recommends 537 
that the driveway permit be issued by the City Engineer’s office and they would review the actual 538 
design details. She indicated she believes that the easement is 20 feet wide and covers the entire 539 
length of the western property line of the proposed lot. Mr. Clements added this is just a pass and 540 
repass easement. He explained that the woods road is on the parent parcel and the only way for the 541 
future property owner to have access along the woods road would be to trespass without the 542 
existence of this access and maintenance agreement. The maintenance agreement also explains 543 
terms for ownership and responsibility to maintain it in the future.  544 

Chair Farrington stated he is trying to sort out the conflicting recommendations. The Conservation 545 
Commission seems to be fine with a gravel driveway, but Engineering Staff is not. Ms. Brunner 546 
stated that she can clarify as she was at the Conservation Commission meeting and site visit. She 547 
noted that the Commission did have a good discussion and asked some questions; however, at the 548 
end of the discussion, they just moved on to the next agenda item, so they didn't necessarily make 549 
a statement in favor or against or make any formal recommendations. Ms.  Brunner stated she does 550 
not know if this was really a statement of support, but the Commission did not have any specific 551 
recommendations for the Planning Board.  552 

Mayor Hansel stated that he understands where the City Engineer is coming from because if the 553 
gravel driveway erodes, it would negatively affect water quality. He stated that he has maintained 554 
gravel driveways and they require much less sand and salt in the winter, and he felt that this was 555 
an important consideration. He referred to a steep driveway on Hurricane Road and even with a 556 
large amount of salt used on the driveway, it is still unsafe to drive on in the winter. The Mayor 557 

15 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 14 of 20 
 

stated that from the City’s perspective, maybe the City should look at this and provide some more 558 
specific language around what really works, but he is inclined to support the applicant on this 559 
issue.  560 

Councilor Remy stated he agrees with the Mayor and stated that he grew up living on a very steep 561 
gravel driveway. He agreed that there is maintenance that goes into it, but travel is easier. He also 562 
added that at the end of the winter, a paved driveway looks similar to a gravel driveway because 563 
of how much sand and salt is used on it.  564 

The Chair asked for public comment. 565 

Mr. Jim Craig of 141 Walpole Road addressed the Board first. Mr. Craig stated he is an abutter to 566 
this property and has lived in this area for 40 plus years. He stated that he has no issue with the 567 
development of a portion of this property as a future home site. He referred to the logging road 568 
located east of the property and noted that a large amount of water had come down that road during 569 
these recent storms at a fast pace and passed the culvert, but fortunately there were no washouts. 570 
Mr. Craig stated that he likes the idea of a paved driveway as that would prevent the driveway 571 
issues that he has had with this gravel driveway. In closing, he stated that he is in support of this 572 
development.  573 

With no further public comment, the Chairman closed the public hearing. 574 

C. Board Discussion and Action 575 
Mayor Hansel stated that he was going to read the motion from the staff report without the 576 
condition requiring that the driveway be paved. He went on to make a motion that the Planning 577 
Board approve S-10-22 & SWP-CUP-03-23 as shown on the plan set identified as “2 Lot 578 
Subdivision Keene Executive Homes, LLC” prepared by Cardinal Surveying & Land Planning at 579 
a scale of 1” = 50’ dated August 22, 2022 and last revised July 7, 2023 and the plan identified as 580 
“Proposed Driveway Old Walpole Road Keene, NH” prepared by Brickstone Land Use 581 
Consultants, LLC at a scale of 1” = 20’ dated April 6, 2023 and last revised July 5, 2023 with the 582 
following conditions:  583 
 584 

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following conditions 585 
precedent shall be met:  586 

 587 
A. Owner’s signature appear on the plan.  588 

  589 
B. Submittal of a revised plan set with the following changes:  590 

i.  The parcel identification number for the new lot be removed from the plan.  591 
ii. A note added to the plan stating that a Street Access Permit shall be required for 592 
the new lot.  593 
iii. The proposed easement area be more clearly defined.  594 

 595 
C. Inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their designee following 596 
their installation or the submittal of a security in an amount deemed satisfactory to the 597 
Public Works Director to ensure that the monuments will be set.  598 

 599 
D. Submittal of four (4) full sized paper copies, two (2) mylar copies, and a digital copy of 600 
the final plan set.  601 

16 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 15 of 20 
 

 602 
E. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51.00 made out to the City of Keene to cover 603 
recording fees.  604 

 605 
2. Subsequent to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following 606 
conditions shall be met: 607 
 608 

A. Prior to the issuance of a building permit for new residential development, a Stormwater 609 
Management Plan for the site, including the driveway, level spreader and culvert designed 610 
in accordance with the NH Stormwater Manual and Section 22.3.10 of the Land 611 
Development Code, and prepared by a Professional Engineer licensed in New Hampshire, 612 
shall be submitted for review and approval by the City Engineer.  613 

 614 
B. Prior to the issuance of a building permit for new residential development, a copy of the 615 
recorded Shared Access and Maintenance Warranty Deed shall be submitted to the 616 
Community Development Department.  617 

 618 
The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy. 619 
 620 
Chair Farrington stated he did not feel that this subdivision rose to the level of being considered a 621 
Development of Regional Impact. 622 
  623 
The motion made by the Mayor carried on a unanimous vote. 624 
 625 
VI. Master Plan Update Discussion  626 
 627 
Ms. Brunner addressed the Board and explained that the City has been putting aside money and 628 
budgeting for the next Master Plan update. The update has been delayed by a couple of years for 629 
various reasons, including COVID. 630 
 631 
Ms. Brunner explained that her presentation tonight has three parts. The first part is a review of 632 
the Master Plan, more generally what the Planning Board’s role is; the second part is a review of 633 
the 2010 Master Plan; and the third part is the proposed timeline and approach for this upcoming 634 
update.  635 
 636 
What is the Master Plan? Ms. Brunner explained that it is a long-range planning document that 637 
serves as a guide for city-wide growth and development. It is also a guide for major capital 638 
investments. Having a Master Plan is a prerequisite for having a Capital Improvement Program in 639 
New Hampshire. It is also the foundation for public policy, zoning, and land use decisions. The 640 
State RSA was amended in 2001 to include a more precise overview of what the purpose of the 641 
Master Plan is. 642 
 643 
The first purpose of the Master Plan is to set down as clearly and practically as possible, the best 644 
and most appropriate future development of the area under the jurisdiction of the Planning Board. 645 
In addition to this, the purpose is to aid the Board in designing ordinances that result in preserving 646 
and enhancing the unique quality of life and culture of New Hampshire.  647 

17 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 16 of 20 
 

Another purpose is to guide the board in the performance of its other duties in a manner that 648 
achieves the principles of smart growth, sound planning, and wise resource protection. In addition 649 
to this, another purpose is to establish statements of land use and development principles and to 650 
establish legal standing for the implementation of ordinances and other planning board regulations.  651 
 652 
Ms. Brunner stated this full description is in RSA, 674:2 - subsection 1. 653 
 654 
She went on to explain that there are two mandatory sections of a Master Plan. The first one is the 655 
“Vision” section, which previously was the goals and objectives. There are statements to articulate 656 
the desires of the citizens, including a set of guiding principles and priorities. The second required 657 
section is the “Land Use” section, which looks at existing land uses, land use trends over time, and 658 
proposed future land uses and also looks at data to support that, such as studies of population, 659 
economic activity, and resources.  660 
 661 
These two sections are mandatory and are a prerequisite for a zoning ordinance. They are also 662 
prerequisites for establishing a Historic District and a Capital Improvement Program.  663 
 664 
Mr. Brunner explained that in addition to the two mandatory sections, there are 15 optional 665 
sections. She noted that State Statute does recommend that the Master Plan be revised or updated 666 
every 5 to 10 years, and note that the City is on year 13.  667 
 668 
As far as how the Master Plan is adopted or amended, the state statute stipulates that this is done 669 
by the Planning Board. The Master Plan has to be adopted at a duly-noticed public hearing with a 670 
10-day public notice requirement. It can be adopted one section at a time or as an entire document, 671 
and then amendments or updates are adopted following the same process. 672 
 673 
Keene seeks City Council's adoption of the Master Plan, in addition to the Planning Board’s 674 
adoption. Under state law, it is the Planning Board’s vote that is the official vote. Once the Master 675 
Plan is voted on, it has to be filed with the City Clerk.  676 
 677 
Ms. Brunner next talked about the Master Plan that was adopted in 2010. The last update to the 678 
Master Plan kicked off with an award winning community visioning process in 2008. The process 679 
to develop the vision involved extensive public outreach. It was award winning because there were 680 
over 2,000 individuals who participated through community forums, focus groups, study circles, 681 
etc. It was a wide range of input and through that community vision process, the  following six 682 
key focus areas were identified: 683 
 684 

-Quality built environment 685 
-Unique natural environment 686 
-Vibrant economy 687 
-Strong citizenship  688 
-Proactive leadership 689 
-Creative learning culture and a healthy community. 690 

 691 
Prior to the 2010 Master Plan, the City of Keene did a rolling update of the plan where chapters 692 
were updated every 2 years. This process created issues because some of the chapters would have 693 

18 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 17 of 20 
 

different levels of detail, were not always in sync with each other, and at times had contradicting 694 
statements or goals. With the 2010 plan, the City decided to move away from that method and go 695 
with a comprehensive update where the entire plan was updated at once. Within the 21 topic-696 
oriented chapters, there are goals and recommendations. 697 
 698 
In the 2010 Master Plan, the City had an implementation section that outlined eight high-level 699 
recommendations. Of those eight, the City has completed five. The first recommendation was to 700 
rewrite the City’s land use zoning regulations to proactively achieve the community’s vision for 701 
the future – this was completed with the adoption of the Land Development Code in May of 2021 702 
and (it went into effect in September of 2021).  703 
 704 
The second recommendation was to continue to manage and improve the community’s 705 
transportation network. This involved making improvements to roads, bridges, intersections, 706 
walking and bicycling infrastructure and the adoption of the “Complete Streets” policy and design 707 
program, which has been completed but will be an ongoing effort by the City into the future. The 708 
Complete Streets policy was adopted in 2014 and the design guidelines were adopted in 2015. The 709 
City has been making ongoing road, bridge, and bicycle infrastructure and intersection 710 
improvements, which have been funded through our Capital Improvement Program. 711 
 712 
The third recommendation was to make the use of the community's parks and trails system easier. 713 
The City has actually made quite a bit of progress on this, and this would be another ongoing 714 
initiative that the City will continue to work on. The Bicycle Pedestrian Pathways Advisory 715 
Committee has been doing a lot of work on this item as well. 716 
 717 
The fourth recommendation was to develop and adapt neighborhood plans. This is one of the three 718 
items that was never completed. 719 
 720 
The fifth recommendation was to adopt low impact design standards as part of the subdivision and 721 
site plan regulations. This has been completed and has been integrated into the Site Development 722 
Standards in the Land Development Code. These standards are what was previously the combined 723 
subdivision and site plan regulations. 724 
 725 
The sixth recommendation was to adopt a City Council Resolution to become a champion in the 726 
Council for a Healthier Communities Vision 2020 program – this has been completed. Ms. Brunner 727 
stated she does not believe this program exists anymore, but the City did complete the program, 728 
which later became the Healthy Monadnock Champions Program.  729 
 730 
The seventh recommendation was to continue to monitor, revise, update, and implement Keene’s 731 
Climate Change Plan. Ms. Brunner stated that this recommendation was never started because the 732 
Climate Action Plan is from 2004 and was never updated. She did note, however, that the City did 733 
complete a Greenhouse Gas Inventory in 2018 and it also has an Energy Plan in place, which could 734 
be considered a component of the Climate Action Plan. 735 
 736 
The final recommendation was to include an implementation plan within the Master Plan, so there 737 
will be a list of all of the recommendations that come out of the plan and their progress can be 738 
tracked.  739 

19 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 18 of 20 
 

 740 
Chair Farrington asked how many pages were in the 2010 plan. Ms. Brunner stated she thinks it is 741 
about 90 pages long, but with the appendices etc. it could be about 200 pages. 742 
 743 
Ms. Brunner then went over what staff is proposing for the next Master Plan update. The first 744 
phase would run from July through December and would be the project preparation phase. Staff 745 
have already started brainstorming ideas for people who we might want to be included on a project 746 
steering committee. The proposed process for creating the steering committee would be to have 747 
members nominated by the Planning Board because it is technically the Planning Board that is 748 
responsible for writing and adopting the Master Plan. Those members can then be confirmed by 749 
the City Council because in Keene there is the dual adoption process. Ms. Brunner noted that Chair 750 
Farrington has agreed to serve on this committee and staff will be looking for one or two other 751 
members from the Planning Board to serve as well.  752 
 753 
Mayor Hansel asked whether there were other Boards that the Planning Board has nominated in 754 
the past. Ms. Brunner said that the only one she could think of was the Southwest Region Planning 755 
Commission, but she could not think of another City Committee that has been nominated by the 756 
Board. The Mayor stated he has no issue with the Board coming up with a list of potential people 757 
to be on the committee, but to keep it consistent with our processes – he would put that through 758 
the Mayor's Office to make the nomination for confirmation by the City Council. Ms. Brunner 759 
stated she would like to check with the City Attorney as to whether this would be a typical Ad-760 
Hoc Committee that is appointed and confirmed by the Mayor and which only runs for the term of 761 
the Mayor – which was one of staff’s considerations.  762 
 763 
Mr. Clancy asked whether a steering committee appointed by the Planning Board would be 764 
considered a subcommittee of the Planning Board legally. Ms. Brunner stated they would like to 765 
avoid this because a subcommittee of the Planning Board could only consist of Planning Board 766 
members and for quorum you would only need four Planning Board members maximum. 767 
 768 
For the scope of work of this project, Ms. Brunner explained that the City would want a larger 769 
committee with more diverse membership. 770 
 771 
Councilor Remy stated he appreciates keeping the process consistent, but as a Councilor he did 772 
not mind where the nomination came from. The Mayor stated that for the Council to vote on it, he 773 
as the Mayor has to add it to the agenda. He felt that for future Mayors’ sakes this process should 774 
be respected.  775 
 776 
Ms. Brunner stated the second item they would like to work on is to select and hire a consultant. 777 
She explained that the goal is to have a consultant hired and in place before the end of December. 778 
She noted that staff would like to have at least a couple of members of the steering committee on 779 
the consultant selection committee. Depending on the budget, the consultant would be helping 780 
with the community visioning process and then with the writing and layout of the document in the 781 
second year of the project.  782 
 783 
She explained that the first phase of the project would be working on the community vision and 784 
the community snapshot – staff is estimating that it will take about nine months for that process.  785 

20 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 19 of 20 
 

 786 
Ms. Brunner noted this would be the most intensive public outreach phase, but the community 787 
vision will also be built on prior work. During this phase, the community snapshot will also be 788 
updated, which provides statistical data and trends showing factors like social demographic data, 789 
economic trends, public health indicators, and housing statistics. 790 
 791 
The second phase will start in October 2024 and run through July 2025, which include writing the 792 
plan, developing the future land use map, and creating graphics to be included in the plan. The 793 
consultant will continue to work with staff and the project committee during this phase.  794 
Community engagement will continue, but not as heavily as during the first phase. Depending on 795 
the budget, some of this work might end up with staff, which could affect the timeline.  796 
 797 
For the adoption process, staff are planning for a hybrid Planning Board and City Council process. 798 
Once the steering committee is ready and feels the plan is ready, they would refer it to the Planning 799 
Board. The Planning Board would hold the statutorily required public hearing on the Master Plan, 800 
which would be an opportunity for the public to add their comments. 801 
 802 
Before the Planning Board makes a final vote, the recommendation is to refer it to City Council 803 
for Council to review and adopt. Following this, the Planning Board would then adopt the plan. 804 
Ms. Brunner explained that they are proposing this route because if the Planning Board adopted 805 
the Master Plan before City Council, it could become problematic. If the City Council adopts the 806 
plan after the Planning Board and then Council decides to make any changes, it would be too late 807 
because the plan is already adopted at that point.  808 
 809 
Ms. Lavigne-Bernier asked whether Keene is the only municipality that follows this process. Ms. 810 
Brunner stated she wasn’t sure if anyone else follows this process, but stated that it is in the 811 
Planning Board’s Rules of Procedure and dates back to the early 1990’s. She again explained that 812 
under State Law, it is only the Planning Board that adopts the Master Plan. 813 
 814 
Mayor Hansel clarified that in order for City Council to review this item, it will be sent to a Council 815 
Committee for public input and asked staff to give this some thought. Ms. Brunner stated that she 816 
couldn’t see a reason why the Planning Board public hearing could not be held after the item went 817 
to Council. She felt that the Council could also hold a second public hearing.  818 
 819 
Councilor Remy asked whether there is a process in place to be able to hold a joint Planning 820 
Board/City Council public hearing. Ms. Brunner stated that this could be another option, but that 821 
her concern was the number of attendees (15 City Councilors and 9 Planning Board members). 822 
Councilor Remy stated that he likes this option. 823 
 824 
Councilor Remy asked whether a report from the Planning Board to the Council does not 825 
necessarily get referred to a committee. It was indicated that it would not be referred to a Council 826 
Committee and would fall under a different section of the City Council agenda.  827 
 828 
Mr. Kost asked what would happen if there were a disagreement between the Planning Board and 829 
the Council regarding adoption of the Master Plan how that would be adjudicated. Ms. Brunner 830 
stated that this is the reason to make the connection between the two bodies as early in the process 831 

21 of 64



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 24, 2023 

Page 20 of 20 
 

as possible to make sure that everyone is on the same page. However, ultimately the Planning 832 
Board adopts the Master Plan.  833 
 834 
VII. Staff Updates  835 
 836 
Ms. Brunner noted that at this point there are no items for the August Planning Board agenda. 837 
 838 
VIII. New Business  839 
 840 
None 841 
 842 
IX. Upcoming Dates of Interest  843 
• Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – August 14th, 6:30 PM  844 
• Planning Board Steering Committee – August 15th, 11:00 AM  845 
• Planning Board Site Visit – August 23rd, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed 846 
• Planning Board Meeting – August 28th, 6:30 PM 847 
 848 
There being no further business, Chair Farrington adjourned the meeting at 8:40 PM. 849 
 850 
Respectfully submitted by, 851 
Krishni Pahl, Minute Taker 852 
 853 
Reviewed and edited by, 854 
Megan Fortson, Planning Technician 855 

22 of 64



Megan Fortson

From: jenoonan fieldstonelandconsultants.com <jenoonan@fieldstonelandconsultants.com>
Sent: Thursday, August 3, 2023 3:40 PM
To: Megan Fortson; Maggie Khermandayan
Cc: Evan Clements; Mari Brunner; cebranon fieldstonelandconsultants.com
Subject: RE: Black Brook Road

Hi Megan, 

On behalf of our client, Patriot Holdings, LLC we are sending this email to request a  me extension to the Planning Board 
approval. The Condi onal Approval will expire on August 27, prior to the next scheduled Planning Board mee ng. All 
condi ons of the approval have been met.  

We will send a check for $25.00 to cover the cost of the extension request.  

Best Regards, 

John Noonan 
Project Manager 

Milford Office:  206 Elm Street ‐ Milford NH 03055 
Keene Office: 45 Roxbury Street ‐ Keene NH 03431 
Tel: 603.672.5456 x 119 ‐ Fax: 603.413.5456 

www.FieldstoneLandConsultants.com 

Black Brook Rd Extension Request

23 of 64



STAFF REPORT 
 

S-07-23 – Boundary Line Adjustment – 168 & 180 Court St 
 
Request: 
Applicant BCM Environmental & Land Law PLLC, on behalf of owners Tilden Properties, LLC & the 
James A. Putnam Trust, proposes a Boundary Line Adjustment between the properties located 
at 168 & 180 Court St (TMP #s 554-010-000 & 554-011-000). Both properties are in the Medium 
Density District. 
 
Background: 
The two subject parcels are located 
approximately 0.3 miles north of 
Central Square on the west side of 
Court St, as shown in Figure 1. 
Residential uses surround these 
parcels to the north, east, south, and 
west. The former Tilden School (now 
occupied by Surry Village Charter 
School) is located to the southwest of 
the property at 168 Court Street.  
 
The property at 180 Court St (TMP 
#554-011-000) is 0.87 ac in size with 
an existing single-family home that 
was owned by Tilden Properties LLC 
at the time this application was 
submitted. Following the legal notice 
of this application, this property was 
transferred to a new owner. The 
property at 168 Court St (TMP #554-
010-000) is 0.59 ac in size with an 
existing single-family home that is 
owned by the James A. Putnam Trust. Both of these parcels are located in the Medium Density 
District, which currently has a minimum lot size of 8,000 sf for each primary residence and an 
additional 5,400 sf minimum lot area requirement for each additional dwelling unit. This district 
also has a 50’ frontage requirement.  
 
The request is to perform a boundary line adjustment that will transfer 0.03 ac of land from the 
parcel at 180 Court St to the parcel at 168 Court St. Table 1 shows the size of each lot before and 
after the boundary line adjustment, as well as the amount of land being transferred. Both of these 
parcels currently comply with the basic zoning dimensional requirements for the Medium Density 
District and will continue to comply with these requirements following the BLA. There is no new 
development proposed as part of this application.  
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 1. Aerial imagery of the parcels at 168 & 180 Court 
Street. 

24 of 64



STAFF REPORT 
 

 
Determination of Regional Impact: 
After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed 
boundary line adjustment does not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as defined 
in RSA 36:55. The Board will need to make a final determination as to whether or not the proposal, 
if approved, could have the potential for regional impact. 
 
Completeness: 
The Applicant has requested exemptions from submitting separate existing and proposed 
conditions plans and all technical reports. Staff have determined that granting these exemptions 
would have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the Board accept the 
application as “complete.”  
 
Departmental Comments: There were no departmental comments on this application. 
 
Application Analysis: The analysis provided below is focused on the Planning Board’s standards 
most relevant to this application. 
 
20.8 Sewer & Water: Both parcels are currently serviced by City water and sewer. There are no 

changes to utilities proposed as part of this application. 

20.9 Traffic & Access Management: Each property is currently accessed by an existing 
driveway. There are no changes proposed to site access as part of this application. 

20.11 Surface Waters & Wetlands: In the project narrative that was submitted, the Applicant 
noted that there are no surface waters or wetlands present on either parcel.  

 
Recommended Motion:  
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:   

“Approve S-07-23 for a Boundary Line Adjustment between the properties at 168 & 180 
Court St, as shown on the plan identified as “Boundary Line Adjustment Plan of Lands of 
James A. Putnam Trust & Judith H. Putnam Trust, 168 Court Street, Parcel # 554 - 10 and 
Tilden Properties, LLC, 180 Court Street, Parcel # 554 – 11, City of Keene, Cheshire 
County, New Hampshire” prepared by Edward C. Goodrich, Jr. at a scale of 1 inch = 20 feet 
on August 1, 2023 and last revised on September 7, 2023 with no conditions.“ 

Table 1. Area of Land Affected by Proposed Boundary Line Adjustment 

 168 Court St 
(TMP# 554-010-000) 

180 Court St 
(TMP# 554-011-000) 

Prior to Adjustment 0.59 ac 0.87 ac 
Amount of Land Transferred + 0.03 ac - 0.03 ac 

After Adjustment 0.62 ac  0.84 ac 

25 of 64



26 of 64



1 
 

Proposed Boundary Line Adjustment  
 180 Court St. (TMP: 554-011-000) & 168 Court St. (TMP: 551-010-000) 

 

DESCRIPTIVE NARRATIVE 

The Applicants propose to adjust the boundary between the parcel at 180 Court Street (Tax Map 554, Lot 
11), owned by Tilden Properties LLC, and 168 Court Street (Tax Map 551, Lot 10), owned by the James A. 
Putnam Trust and Judith H. Putnam Trust. The proposed adjustment will transfer 0.03± acres from the 
southwest corner of the parcel at 180 Court Street to the northwest corner of the parcel at 168 Court Street. 
Prior to 1941, this area was part of 168 Court Street. The proposed adjustment will return this land to 168 
Court Street and will restore the common boundary to a straight line.  

The proposed boundary line adjustment complies with the following subdivision standards in Section 19.2 
and site development standards in Article 20 of the City of Keene Land Development Code. An exemption 
is requested from submitting technical reports (e.g. drainage report, traffic analysis, soil analysis) as no new 
development or change of use is proposed at this time. 

I. Subdivision Standards  

19.2.1 Lots - Each of the subject parcels is an existing lot that conforms with the zoning requirements for 
the Medium Density (MD) District. The proposal will not cause either parcel to become nonconforming.  

 The minimum lot size in the MD District is 8,000 sq. ft. The parcel at 180 Court Street is currently 0.87± 
acres (37,897.2± sq. ft.) and will become 0.84± acres (36,590.4± sq. ft.) following the boundary line 
adjustment. The parcel at 168 Court Street is currently 0.59± acres (25,700.4± sq. ft.) and will become 
0.62± acres (27,007.2± sq. ft.) following the boundary line adjustment. Each lot has ample road frontage 
and no building or pavement setbacks will be reduced after the adjustment.  

19.2.2 Character of Land for Subdivision - The parcels subject to this proposal are currently developed 
with single family homes. The proposal will not impact the existing buildings or structures on either lot.  

19.2.3 Scattered or Premature Development - No new development or developable lots or change of use 
are proposed as part of this application. This standard is not applicable.  

19.2.4 Preservation of Existing Features - No significant existing features will be impacted by this 
proposed boundary line adjustment.  

19.2.6 Special Flood Hazard Areas - The parcels are located outside of the 100-Year Floodplain.  

19.2.7 Fire Protection and Water Supply - No new development or change of use are proposed as part of 
this application. There is an existing fire hydrant located on the sidewalk in front of the property at 180 
Court Street.  

19.2.8 Utilities - The parcels are currently serviced by City water and sewer.  

II.  Site Development Standards 

No development, new lots, or change of use are proposed as part of this application. Therefore, several of 
the City’s Site Development Standards are not applicable to this proposal.  

20.2 Drainage and Stormwater Management - The proposed boundary line adjustment will not impact 
drainage or the flow of stormwater on/from the lots.  

27 of 64



2 
 

20.3 Sediment and Erosion Control - This standard is not applicable.  

20.4 Snow Storage and Removal - This standard is not applicable.  

20.5 Landscaping - This standard is not applicable.  

20.6 Screening - This standard is not applicable.  

20.7 Lighting - This standard is not applicable.  

20.8 Sewer and Water - See response to Standard 19.2.8 above.  

20.9 Traffic and Access Management - This standard is not applicable.  

20.10 Filling and Excavation - This standard is not applicable.  

20.11 Surface Waters and Wetlands - No surface waters or wetlands are present on the parcels.  

20.12 Hazardous and Toxic Materials - No hazardous or toxic materials are known to be present on the 
existing parcel.  

20.13 Noise - This standard is not applicable.  

20.14 Architecture and Visual Appearance - This standard is not applicable.  

 

28 of 64



From: Tara Kessler
To: Jesse Rounds
Cc: Mari Brunner; Evan Clements; Megan Fortson; Thomas Hanna
Subject: BLA Application Exemption Request for 168 & 180 Court Street
Date: Sunday, September 3, 2023 8:11:42 PM
Attachments: S-07-23_Staff Comments Memo.pdf
Importance: High

Dear Jessie, 

This email relates to the submitted Boundary Line Adjustment Application for the properties at 180
and 168 Court Street and staff comment #2 on the application, which is included on the attached
letter. 

We formerly request an exemption from the submission requirements for Boundary Line Adjustment
Applications in Section 25.10.5.B.2 of the City of Keene Land Development Code that a separate
existing conditions plan and proposed conditions plan be submitted. Given the simplicity of the
proposed adjustment, we are requesting to provide a single plan that combines existing and
proposed conditions. Please let me know if you require additional information regarding this
request, and whether this exemption has been/will be administratively approved. 

 

Kind regards,  

Tara  

29 of 64

mailto:kessler@nhlandlaw.com
mailto:jrounds@keenenh.gov
mailto:mbrunner@keenenh.gov
mailto:eclements@keenenh.gov
mailto:mfortson@keenenh.gov
mailto:hanna@nhlandlaw.com



 


 


3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 


 


(603) 352-5440 
KeeneNH.gov 


 
TO:  Thomas R. Hanna    
 
FROM:  Megan Fortson, Planning Technician 
 
DATE:  September 1, 2023    
 
SUBJECT: Comments on BLA Application, S-07-23, for Lot Line Adjustment Between 168 & 


180 Court St 
 
Staff from the City of Keene Community Development, Engineering, Fire, and Police Departments 
have conducted an initial review of the Boundary Line Adjustment application for 168 & 180 Court 
St (TMP #s 554-010-000 & 554-011-000). Included below are comments and questions on the 
submitted materials. Please, submit additional information and/or revised drawings by the 
revision deadline of Monday, September 11, 2023. Please, feel free to contact me with any 
questions at mfortson@keenenh.gov or 603-352-5440. 


 
1. Please include a table or note on the plan that outlines the basic zoning dimensional 


requirements for the underlying zoning district and the existing and proposed lot coverage 
for each parcel. This information can be found in Section 3.5 of the Land Development 
Code.  
 


2. Please either submit separate existing and proposed conditions plans or submit an 
exemption request to combine these plans into one document. 
 


3. The plan that was submitted shows an existing catch basin to the south of the residence 
on the property at 168 Court St. Please submit information about whether or not this catch 
basin connects into the City’s drainage system, and if there is an easement in place to 
allow the City to access and maintain this infrastructure. If there is an easement in place, 
please update the plan to include this information. 
 


4. Please be aware that per Section 22.3.2 of the Land Development Code, “Lot Monuments,” 
“Final subdivision plans shall not be signed and recorded until after the monuments have 
been installed by the developer and verified by the Public Works Director, or security in an 
amount deemed satisfactory to the Public Works Director is posted ensuring the 
monuments will be set.” This will need to be addressed prior to the signature of the final 
plans by the Planning Board Chair.  


 
 
 







Medium Density District Zoning Requirements:  
Minimum Lot Area = 8,000 s.f. 
Minimum Lot Area for Single Dwelling Unit = 8,000 s.f. 
Minimum Lot Area for Each Additional Dwelling Unit = 5,400 s.f.  
Minimum Lot Width at Building Line = 60 f.t. 
Minimum Road Frontage = 50 f.t. 
Minimum Front/Rear Setbacks = 15 f.t.  
Minimum Side Setback = 10 f.t.  
Maximum Building Height = 35 f.t. 
Maximum Stories Above Grade = 2  
Maximum Building Coverage = 45% 
Maximum Impervious Coverage = 60% 
Minimum Green/Open Space = 40%  

CO
U
RT             STREET

Zoning District :  MD,  Medium Density

Fl
ag

 S
to

ne
 P

at
io

Iron Rod In

Stone Bound Chain Link Fence

M
ap

 5
55

,  
Lo

t 
38

,  
 2

5 
 M

ay
fl

ow
er

 D
ri

ve
A

lle
n 

T.
 A

ns
ev

in
 2

01
9 

Re
v.

 T
ru

st
Vo

l. 
30

95
, P

. 1
10

6,
 2

02
0 

 &
  L

ot
 1

4,
  P

la
n:

 
"P

ilg
ri

m
 P

ar
k"

 L
ot

 1
4,

  P
l. 

Bk
. 1

2,
 P

. 5
9,

 1
96

3

76.58'

TWO  LINES  TO  BE  REMOVED

273.08'

HedgeBent Iron Pipe

M
ap

 5
54

,  
Lo

t 
8,

   
14

6 
Sc

ho
ol

 S
tr

ee
t

Ti
ld

en
 S

ch
oo

l. 
LL

C
Vo

l. 
25

59
, P

. 9
40

, 2
00

9 Chain Link Fence

Map 554,  Lot 9    150  Court Street

Adam Daniel Art & Sunny Lee Art

Vol. 3203, P. 979, 2022

This  plan  represents  a  Urban  classification  survey  and  is  the  result  of  land  record  research  and  an  
actual  field  survey  traverse  using a Wild T-1  Theodolite and a Wild Distomat  with  an  unadjusted  linear  misclosure
better  than  1  part  in  10,000.    Some  peripheral  data  may  be  located  by  other  traverse  methods  or  sources.  
All  measurements  should  be  considered  + / -  based  on  the  accuracy  of  the  survey  methods  used.   
All  physical  evidence  shown  hereon  was  found  unless  otherwise  stated.

NOTES:
1.  554 / 10,  James A. Putnam Trust  &  Judith  H.  Putnam Trust,  168  Court Street,  Keene,  NH.
    See  Deed  Vol. 2493,  P. 149,  2008 &  March  1948  Plan  of  "Philip  H.  Faulkner"  by  D.  R.. Chaplin, #E-758.

2.  554 / 11,  Tilden  Properties,  LLC,  180  Court  Street,  Keene,  NH.
    See  Deed  Vol. 2361,  P. 572,  2006.

3.   

Catch Basin Outlet

To
p 

 S
lo

pe

Gravel  Driveway

Old Distu
rbed Fence Post

#168  Court Street

        554  - 
 10

0.59+/- ACRES  EXISTING

0.62+/- ACRES  PROPOSED

92
.0

1'

N
 4

°5
1'

 E

Boundary  Line  Adjustment  Purposal  Narrative

There is no change in the building coverage or impervious coverage planned in this proposal.
Existing Building Coverage: 168 Court Street = 3,167 +/- Sq. Ft.  
                                180 Court Street = 4,019 +/- Sq. Ft.
Existing Impervious Coverage,  Walks, Patios, Paved Driveway & Buildings:
168 Court Street = 6,113 +/- Sq. Ft. or 0.14 +/- Acres
180 Court Street = 4,267 +/- Sq. Ft. or 0.10 +/- Acres 

The  purpose  of this  proposal  is  to  restore  the  historic  boundary lines  that  existed
prior  to  1941.  The  small  area  designated  hereon  as  "554 / 11  To  10"  was  originally part  
of  554 / 10,  but  is  currently  part  of  554 / 11.  This  approval  will enable  it  to  be  
reunited  with  554 / 10  and  restore  the  straight  line  common  boundary  line.   
 

Approval  Date : ____________________________________________________

Chairman :_________________________________________________________

Secretary :_________________________________________________________

Remarks :__________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________

KEENE  PLANNING   BOARD   

Paved  Driveway

Hedge

Catch Basin

Does Not Connect W
ith

Keene Drainage System

Stone & 

Brick Stairs

St
on

e 
 R

et
ai

ni
ng

  W
al

l

S 76°27' W

U
tility Pole

Fl
ag

 S
to

ne
 W

al
kw

ay

Top of Ornate Iron

Fence Post 

106.62'

Map 554,  Lot 12  194 - 202  Court Street

McMahon Duier, LLC  Vol. 3156, P. 1242, 2021

N 76°28' E
S 76°28' W

Picket  Fence

#180  Court Street

        554  - 
 11

0.87+/- ACRES  EXISTING

0.84+/- ACRES  PROPOSED

206.70'

N 76°32'E

St
on

e 
 R

et
ai

ni
ng

  W
al

l16
8.

00
'

N
 2

°1
4'

W

All  Boundary  
Line  Adjustment  

Monuments  Are   In  Place
  &

As  Noted  On  Plan

LINE  TO  BE  RESTORED

554 - 11 To 10

0.03 +/- Acres
76.58'

19
.7

9'

Iron Rebar

N
 2

°1
4'

 W

S 76°28' W

N 76°28' E

To
p 

 S
lo

pe

Top  Slope

S 12°55'E

20.26'

S 77°06'W

72.91' 20.26'

N
 12°55'W

Stone Post

Drill H
ole In Top of 

Flush Stone Bound

N 77°06'E

72.91'

End Of Drain Pipe

Point  O
n

Retaining Wall
M

ap
 5

55
,  

Lo
t 

37
,  

 3
3 

 M
ay

fl
ow

er
 D

ri
ve

Jo
se

ph
 D

. &
 B

et
h 

A
. D

ur
el

l
Vo

l. 
30

12
, P

. 9
14

, 2
01

7 
 &

  L
ot

 1
5,

  P
la

n:
 

"P
ilg

ri
m

 P
ar

k"
 L

ot
 1

5,
  P

l. 
Bk

. 1
2,

 P
. 5

9,
 1

96
3

St
on

e 
 R

et
ai

ni
ng

  W
al

l

To
p 

 S
lo

pe

Ch
ai

n 
Li

nkRoad
Cart

O
ld

Hedge

Top Of Concrete Post

End Retaining Wall

167.00'

# 168
Court 
Street

167.00'

Wooden Rail Fence

Stone Post

Bench

E
E

E
E

E

Ov
er

he
ad

  U
til

iti
es

Flag Stone Walkway
Flush Stone Bound

S 13°41' E

Catch BasinLawn

Hedge

Concrete   Sidewalk
Fire H

ydrant

164.48'

U
tility Pole

D
rain M

anhole

     # 180

  Court Street

Pi
ck

et
  F

en
ce

Gravel  Driveway

Flag Stone Walkway

Overhead  Utilit
ies

CROSS  WALK

Drill H
ole In Top of 

Flush Stone Bound

Hedge

S 13°38' E

U
tility Pole

E
E

E
E

E

OF  LANDS  OF

20 0 20 40 60 80

Map 554,  Lot 18  151  Court Street

Jason E. & Emily M. Nichols

2589-917-2009

Map 554,  Lot 17  161  Court Street

161 Court Street Apartments, LLC

2800-825-2013

James A. Putnam, Trustee  554 / 10:_____________________________

________________________________________________________

Judith H. Putnam, Trustee  554 / 10:____________________________

________________________________________________________

Rosamond P. Delori, Trustee  554 - 10____________________________

________________________________________________________

Tilden  Properties,  LLC  554 / 11,    To Be Conveyed To : 

Rochelle M. Katz-Gager:______________________________________

________________________________________________________

Frederick P. Gager: _________________________________________

________________________________________________________

Certification  Signature  Of  Land  Owners

CITY  OF  KEENE,  CHESHIRE  COUNTY,  NEW  HAMPSHIRE

180  COURT  STREET,  PARCEL  # 554 - 11

168  COURT  STREET,  PARCEL  # 554 - 10

TILDEN  PROPERTIES,  LLC

JAMES  A.  PUTNAM  TRUST  &
 JUDITH  H.  PUTNAM  TRUST

Date of Plan:  August  1, 2023
August 11, 2023, Clerical Revisions
Sept. 7. 2023, City of Keene Planning 
Department Review Revisions

Stone   Wall
Wire   Fence
Wet   Area
Now   Or   Formerly            N / F
Water   Course
Woods   Road
Utility  Pole
Sewer  Man  Hole               SMH 
Catch   Basin 
Chain  Link  Fence

LEGEND

Edward C. Goodrich,  Jr.
Licensed Land Surveyor NH # 677
PO Box 132, Marlborough, NH  03455
Tel #  603-876-4038 #23-1371

SCALE:  1 "  =  20 '

AND

WEST  
STREET

LOCUS

BOUNDARY  LINE  ADJUSTMENT  PLAN

M
A
GN

ET
IC

  
  
N
O
RT

H

X

Map 554,  Lot 16  171  Court Street

Six One, LLC,  3202-628-2022

Map 554,  Lot 15  183  Court Street

Timothy E. & Sarah J. Bolinger

3212-267-2022

Map 554,  Lot 14  189  Court Street

Charlotte K. Schuerman, Rev. Trust

2918-903, 2015

CROSS  STREET

JU
LY

  
19

, 
 2

02
3

Sc
ho

ol
   

   
 S

tr
ee

t

CENTRAL
SQUAREM

A
IN

  

STREET

W
AS

H
IN

GT
O
N
  
ST

RE
ET

School

ROXBURY  STREET

Cross  Street

CO
U
RT  

STREET

30 of 64



STAFF REPORT 
 

S-06-23 – SUBDIVISION – 2-LOT SUBDIVISION – 800 PARK AVENUE 
 
Request: 
Applicant Brickstone Land Use Consultants LLC, on behalf of owner Carlisle Park Avenue LLC, 
proposes to subdivide the existing ~5.66 ac lot at 800 Park Ave (TMP #227-002-000) into two 
lots that are ~2.64 ac and ~3.02 ac. The parcel is located in the Commerce District. 
 
Background: 
The subject parcel is an existing 5.66-acre lot located between Summit Road, Maple Avenue, and 
Park Avenue, and approximately 600 ft. south of Cheshire Medical Center. The Black Brook runs 
north-south through the western portion of the parcel. The property contains two existing 
commercial buildings and 100 on-site parking spaces. An additional 21 parking spaces are 
located in an existing easement along the southern portion of the property. 
 
The applicant proposes to 
subdivide the parcel so that each 
commercial building will be on its 
own lot. Lot 1 will be a 2.64-acre 
parcel with an existing 1,935 sf 
building with an ice cream shop, 
small bakery, and 30 on-site 
parking spaces. Lot 2 will be a 
3.02-acre parcel with an existing 
17,892 sf building with multiple 
commercial uses including a 
restaurant, offices, a beauty 
school, retail space, and a small 
warehouse use. This lot will have 
70 on-site parking spaces as well 
as an additional 21 parking 
spaces in the existing southern 
easement area. Each lot will be 
granted a blanket right to pass 
and repass over the adjacent lot and a right to park in open parking spaces. Staff recommend 
that the submittal of the recorded easement be made a condition subsequent to final approval. 
 
No development is proposed as part of this application. Both lots will remain in their currently 
developed state. A variance, (ZBA23-13) was granted to allow the existing pavement to remain 
the in the pavement setback along the proposed property line. 
 
Determination of Regional Impact: 
After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed 
subdivision does not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. 
The Board will need to make a final determination as to whether the proposal, if approved, could 
have the potential for regional impact. 
 
 

Fig 1: 800 Park Avenue 

31 of 64



STAFF REPORT 
 

Completeness: 
The Applicant has requested exemptions from providing a drainage report, traffic analysis, soil 
analysis, and other technical reports. Staff have determined that the requested exemptions would 
have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the Board accept the 
application as “complete.” 
 
Application Analysis:  The following is a review of the Planning Board subdivision and 
development standards relevant to this application. 
 
19.2.2  Character of Land for Subdivision: The subject parcel is an existing commercial 

development with two buildings and on-site parking. It appears that this standard is met. 

19.2.4  Preservation of Existing Features: No new development is proposed as part of this 
application. This standard is not applicable.  

19.2.6  Special Flood Hazard Areas: Portions of the property lie within the 100-year floodplain for 
Black Brook. FEMA flood maps show the flood elevations to be 510 on the south side, 
rising to 513 on the north side. No changes to the floodplain are proposed. It appears that 
this standard has been met. 

19.2.7  Fire Protection and Water Supply: The property is serviced with city water. The larger 
building has an existing fire sprinkler system in place. It appears that this standard has 
been met. 

19.2.8 Utilities: City water and sewer service the existing buildings. No changes are proposed. It 
appears that this standard has been met. 

20.2 Drainage:  The existing drainage pattern flows to the west side of the property and passes 
through a vegetative area before entering Black Brook. No changes to the site are 
proposed and the drainage pattern will remain unchanged. It appears that this standard 
has been met. 

20.3 Sediment & Erosion Control: No changes to the site are proposed. This standard is not 
applicable. 

20.4 Snow Storage & Removal: Snow is stored around the perimeter of the site and removed 
as needed. This standard appears to be met. 

20.5 Landscaping: No changes to the site are proposed. This standard is not applicable. 

20.6 Screening: No changes to the site are proposed. This standard is not applicable. 

20.7 Lighting: No parking lot pole lighting exists on site so there will not be any light trespass 
caused by the new property line. There are two streetlights located at the driveways on 
Park Avenue and Summit Road. Wall mounted lights are located on the buildings. It 
appears that this standard has been met. 

20.8 Sewer & Water: No changes to the existing sewer and water connections are proposed. 
This standard is not applicable. 

32 of 64



STAFF REPORT 
 

20.9 Traffic & Access Management: There are no proposed changes to the existing building 
uses No increase in traffic is expected with this proposal. It appears that this standard 
has been met. 

20.10 Filling & Excavation: No changes to the site are proposed. This standard is not applicable. 

20.11 Surface Waters & Wetlands: Black Brook passes through the property along the west side 
of the parcel. No new development is proposed with this application. It appears that this 
standard has been met. 

20.12 Hazardous & Toxic Materials: The applicant has no knowledge of hazardous or toxic 
materials at the site. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.13  Noise: No changes to the site are proposed. This standard is not applicable. 

20.14 Architecture & Visual Appearance: No changes to the site are proposed. This standard is 
not applicable. 

 
Recommended Motion:  
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:  

Approve S-06-23 as shown on the plan set identified as “Subdivision Plan prepared for Carlisle 
Park Ave. LLC”” prepared by David A. Mann, Land Surveyor at a scale of 1” = 50’ dated July 14, 
2023 with the following conditions: 

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following 
conditions precedent shall be met: 

A. Owner’s signature appears on the plan. 
B. Inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their 

designee following their installation or the submittal of a security in 
an amount deemed satisfactory to the Public Works Director to ensure 
that the monuments will be set. 

C. A copy of the draft Pass & Repass Easement document shall be 
submitted to the City Attorney for review and approval. 

D. Submittal of four (4) full sized paper copies, two (2) mylar copies, and 
a digital copy of the final plan set. 

E. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51.00 made out to the City of 
Keene to cover recording fees. 
 

2. Subsequent to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the 
following conditions shall be met: 

A. A copy of the recorded Pass & Repass Easement document shall be 
submitted to the Community Development Department. 

 

33 of 64



34 of 64



35 of 64



36 of 64



37 of 64



38 of 64



39 of 64



40 of 64



41 of 64



City of Keene 

CASE NUMBER: 
Property Address: 
Zone: 
Owner: 
Petitioner: 
Date of Decision: 

Notification of Decision: 

New ff.cun;p~e,, 

NOTICE OF DECISION 

ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

ZBA 23-13 
800 Park Ave. 
Commerce District 
Carlisle Park A venue, LLC 
A. Eli Leino, Bernstein, Shur, Sawyer & Nelson, PA 
April 3, 2023 

Petitioner, Carlisle Park Avenue, LLC, of Keene, represented by A. Eli Leino of Bernstein, Shur, Sawyer & Nelson of 
Manchester NH, requested a Variance for property located at 800 Park Ave., Tax Map #227-002-000-000-000, is in the 
Commerce District. The Petitioner requested a parking area within eight feet and ten feet of the proposed property line per 
Chapter 100, Article 9.4, Table 9-2 of the Zoning Regulations. This request was approved 4-0 according to the Variance 
Findings of Fact listed below and as further specified in the minutes of the meeting. 

Criteria 1: This proposal will allow the property owner to preserve the property in a sensible way, that will not 

make it worse, 4-0. 

Criteria 2: The Board voted in favor, 4-0. 

Criteria 3: This proposal will not have a negative impact on the public but will provide benefits to the property 

owner with a cleaner property, 4-0. 

Criteria 4: This prop'?sal will not diminish the value of surrounding properties, 4-0. 

Criteria 5: There are special conditions of the property that distinguish it from surrounding properties, a denial 

will place an unnecessary hardship on the property, and the proposal is a reasonable one 4-0. 

Condition: None 

NOTE: Contact the Community Development Department and the Fire Prevention Officer for any applicable permits that 
may be needed. 

Any person directly affected has a right to appeal this Decision. The necessary first step, before any appeal may be taken to the courts, 
is to apply to the Board of Adjustment for a rehearing. The Motion for Rehearing must be filed not later than 30 days after the first date 
following the referenced Date of Decision. The Motion must fully set forth every ground upon which it is claimed that the decision is 
unlawful or unreasonable. See New Hampshire RSA Chapter 677, ~ seq. 

cc: Planning Technician 
City Appraiser 
City Attorney 
File Copy 

City of Keene • 3 Washington Street • Keene, NH • 03431-3191 • www.keenenh.gov 

VVorking Toward iJ Sustainc1ble Community 
42 of 64



STAFF REPORT 
 

SPR-04-13, Mod. 1 & S-08-23 – SUBDIVISION & SITE PLAN – 2-LOT SUBDIVISION – 150 
CONGRESS STREET 

 
Request: 
Applicant and Owner Markem Corporation proposes to subdivide 150 Congress St (TMP #598-
002-000) into two lots and remove pavement and portions of an existing tunnel structure. A waiver 
from Sec. 20.7.3.C of the Land Development Code has been requested. The parcel is located in 
the Industrial Park District. 
 
Background: 
The subject parcel is an 
existing, 31.82-acre 
industrial site owned and 
occupied by the Markem-
Imaje Corp., an industrial 
printing and labeling 
company. The site 
consists of three existing 
buildings and associated 
improvements including 
drive aisles, parking 
spaces, and landscaping. 
The parcel is located to the 
west of Optical Avenue 
and north of NH-101 with 
frontage on Congress 
Street, Tiffin Street, and 
Brown Street. 
 
The applicant proposes to 
subdivide a new, 4.02-acre 
parcel that includes the 
building located directly 
adjacent to Tiffin Street. 
The existing 21,130 sf building, referred to as the INF Building, is a two-story brick building with 
an attached one-story steel warehouse. The applicant intends to sell the new lot and building to 
a prospective buyer.  
 
In order to meet pavement and building setback requirements, a Site Plan modification has been 
submitted that depicts the removal of two drive aisles to the west of the INF Building and the 
removal of a tunnel structure between the IMF Building and the main Markem-Imaje building. This 
modification will disconnect the new lot from the Markem-Imaje campus.  
 
The applicant has submitted a waiver request from section 20.7.3.C of the Land Development 
Code, which states “The maximum light level of any light fixture cannot exceed 0.1-footcandle 
measured at the property line and cannot exceed 1-footcandle measured at the right-of-way line of 
a street.” This waiver is requested to accommodate light trespass that may be caused due to the 
new common lot line created by the subdivision. 

Fig 1: 150 Congress Street 

43 of 64



STAFF REPORT 
 

Determination of Regional Impact: 
After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed 
subdivision does not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. 
The Board will need to make a final determination as to whether the proposal, if approved, could 
have the potential for regional impact. 
 
Completeness: 
The Applicant has requested exemptions from providing a drainage report, traffic analysis, soil 
analysis, grading plan, elevations, historic evaluation, screening analysis, architectural & visual 
appearance analysis, and other technical reports. Staff have determined that the requested 
exemptions would have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the 
Board accept the application as “complete.” 
 
Application Analysis:  The following is a review of the Planning Board development standards 
relevant to this application. 
 
19.2.2  Character of Land for Subdivision: The subject parcel is an existing industrial development 

with multiple buildings, drive aisles, and parking areas. The proposed alterations to the 
site are to make the new lots comply with zoning regulations. It appears that this standard 
has been met. 

19.2.4  Preservation of Existing Features: No new development is proposed as part of this 
application. This standard is not applicable. 

19.2.6  Special Flood Hazard Areas: A portion of the parent lot is located within the 100-year flood 
plain. No development is proposed with this application and the flood plain will not be 
altered or impacted with new development. It appears that this standard has been met. 

19.2.7  Fire Protection and Water Supply: All buildings on site are serviced with municipal water 
and are equipped with fire sprinkler systems that are served by a separate fire service 
from the municipal water source. It appears that this standard has been met. 

19.2.8 Utilities: The existing water and sewer services will continue to be utilized. A new 
underground electric service will be installed by the applicant to separate the INF building 
from the Markem-Imaje site. The applicant notes that a blanket utility cross easement will 
be granted for the utilities for the Markem-Imaje facility that cross the proposed lot. Staff 
recommend that submittal of the recorded easement be a condition subsequent to final 
approval.  

20.2 Drainage: The proposed work will not alter the drainage pattern on the site and the existing 
drainage facilities will continue to operate as designed and installed. It appears that this 
standard has been met.   

20.3 Sediment & Erosion Control: Site work that will require erosion control will be minimal. 
Catch basins located near pavement removal will have silt socks installed prior to the 
beginning of the work. These areas will be loamed and seeded to stabilize the site 
disturbance. The site is mostly flat. It appears that this standard has been met. 

44 of 64



STAFF REPORT 
 

20.4 Snow Storage & Removal: Snow is stored around the perimeter of the site and removed 
as needed. This standard appears to be met. 

20.5 Landscaping: No changes to the site landscaping are proposed. This standard is not 
applicable. 

20.6 Screening: The proposed changes to the site will not require screening. This standard is 
not applicable. 

20.7 Lighting: No new lighting fixtures are proposed for the site. The applicant has requested 
a waiver from section 20.7.3.C of the Land Development Code to allow light to trespass in 
excess of .1-footcandles across the newly proposed property line.  

 
A written waiver request has been included with this application. In deciding whether or 
not to grant this waiver request, the Board should find by a majority vote that the criteria 
outlined in Section 25.10.14 of the LDC have been met: 

 
“1. Specific circumstances relative to the subdivision, or conditions of the land in such 

subdivision, indicate that the waiver will properly carry out the spirit and intent of the 
regulations; and,  

2.  Granting the waiver will not increase the potential for creating adverse impacts to 
abutters, the community or the environment; and,  

3.  Consideration will also be given as to whether strict conformity with the regulations 
would pose an unnecessary hardship to the applicant.” 

20.8 Sewer & Water: No changes to the existing sewer and water connections are proposed. 
This standard is not applicable. 

20.9 Traffic & Access Management: There are no proposed changes to the existing building 
use. No increase in traffic is expected with this proposal. The removal of the two drive 
aisles will prevent traffic circulation between the new lot and the remaining Markem-Imaje 
campus. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.10 Filling & Excavation: No filling or excavation is proposed. This standard is not applicable. 

20.11 Surface Waters & Wetlands: There are no surface waters or wetlands on the site. This 
standard is not applicable. 

20.12 Hazardous & Toxic Materials: No hazardous or toxic materials are stored on site. It 
appears that this standard has been met. 

20.13  Noise: The changes to the site will not alter the existing industrial use of the property. The 
noise generated from the site will not change due to this application. It appears that this 
standard has been met. 

20.14 Architecture & Visual Appearance: No architectural changes to the buildings are proposed. 
This standard is not applicable. 

 

45 of 64



STAFF REPORT 
 

Recommended Motions:  
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motions are recommended:  

Site Plan: 
Approve SPR-04-13, Mod. 1 as shown on the plan set identified as “Site Development Plans 
Markem-Imaje 2 Lot Subdivision” prepared by Fieldstone Land Consultants, PLLC at a scale of 1” 
= 50’ and 1”-100’ dated August 17, 2023 and last revised August 31, 2023 with the following 
condition: 

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the owner’s 
signature appears on the plan. 

Subdivision Plan: 
Approve S-08-23 as shown on the plan set identified as “Site Development Plans Markem-Imaje 
2 Lot Subdivision” prepared by Fieldstone Land Consultants, PLLC at a scale of 1” = 50’ and 1”-
100’ dated August 17, 2023 and last revised August 31, 2023 with the following conditions: 

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following 
conditions precedent shall be met: 

A. Owner’s signature appears on the plan.  
B. Inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their 

designee following their installation or the submittal of a security in an 
amount deemed satisfactory to the Public Works Director to ensure 
that the monuments will be set. 

C. A copy of the draft Utility Easement document shall be submitted for 
review and approval by the City Attorney. 

D. Submittal of four (4) full sized paper copies, two (2) mylar copies, and 
a digital copy of the final plan set. 

E. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51.00 made out to the City of 
Keene to cover recording fees. 
 

2. Subsequent to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the 
following condition shall be met: 

A. A copy of the recorded Utility Easement document shall be submitted 
to the Community Development Department. 

 

 

46 of 64



47 of 64



48 of 64



49 of 64



50 of 64



51 of 64



52 of 64



53 of 64



54 of 64



55 of 64



56 of 64



57 of 64



58 of 64



59 of 64



From: Patty Little
To: Heather Fitz-Simon
Subject: FW: Interested in serving on a City Board or Commission
Date: Thursday, November 3, 2022 2:26:39 PM

From: helpdesk@ci.keene.nh.us <helpdesk@ci.keene.nh.us> 
Sent: Thursday, November 3, 2022 12:45 PM
To: Helen Mattson <hmattson@keenenh.gov>
Cc: Patty Little <plittle@keenenh.gov>; Terri Hood <thood@keenenh.gov> 
Subject: Interested in serving on a City Board or Commission

<p>Submitted on Thu, 11/03/2022 - 12:44</p>
<p>Submitted values are:</p>
First Name:
kenneth

Last Name:
Kost

Address
79 Ridgewood Avenue

How long have you resided in Keene?
two years

Email:

Cell Phone:

Employer:
WSP

Occupation:
planner/business development

Retired
No

Please list any organizations, groups, or other committees you are involved in
Monadnock Interfaith Project
Alternate, Keene Planning Board

PLEASE NOTE I CHECKED PLANNING BOARD BELOW BECAUSE THERE IS NOT A
CHECK BOX FOR KEENE COMMISIONR TO SWRPC. I AM INTERESTED IN THE
SWRPC COMMISONER ROLE. THANK YOU , 

60 of 64

mailto:plittle@keenenh.gov
mailto:hfitzsimon@keenenh.gov
tel:703-201-0793


Have you ever served on a public body before?
Yes

Please select the Boards or Commissions you would be interested in serving on: 
Planning Board

Please share what your interests are and your background or any skill sets that may 
apply.
PLEASE SEE ABOVE-

There is no a choice for Keene Commissioner to the SWRPC. This is the role I am interested 
in. I just checked Planning Board so the form goes through.

Why are you interested in serving on this committee
I have a strong interest in regional planning. I have a strong interest in transportation and 
housing. I have met with Tim Murphy , Executive Director of SWRPC and he encouraged me 
to serve in this capacity 

Please provide 2 personal references: 
Tom Julius

References #2:
Rabbi Dan Aronson

61 of 64



62 of 64



63 of 64



64 of 64


	Agenda
	Minutes
	Black Brook Rd_First Extension Request_Received 08-03-23
	Court St BLA_Packet
	S-07-23_Staff Report
	Application_Received 08-17-23
	Narrative_Received 08-17-23
	BLA Application Exemption Request for 168 & 180...
	BLA Plan_REVISED_Received 09-06-23_REDUCED

	800 Park Ave_Packet
	Application_Received 08-15-23
	Narrative_Received 08-15-23
	Existing Conditions Plan_Received 08-15-23_REDUCED
	Proposed Subdivision Plan_Received 08-15-23_REDUCED
	Response to Staff Comments_Received 09-07-23
	ZBA 23-13_NOD

	Markem Packet
	Site Plan Application_Received 08-18-23
	Subdivision Application_Received 08-18-23
	Narrative_Received 08-18-23
	Waiver & Exemption Requests_REVISED_Received 09-05-23
	Plan Set_REVISED_Received 09-05-23_REDUCED

	Aroma Joe's_Proposed Conditions Plan_Received 07-05-23_REDUCED
	Kost Kenneth_Interest Form_SWRPC Commissioner
	Letter to PB Chair abt request for comments for Route 101 road project_Received 09-07-23



